STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Lexington County

Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

**RECEIVED**

**Oct 15 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

NICHOLAS BENJAMIN CHHITH-BERRY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-000352  
\_\_\_\_\_

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the trial judge err in denying Appellant immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act where the undisputed evidence showed Appellant satisfied the common law elements of defense of others and the elements of the Act?

II. Did the trial judge err in failing to allow Appellant to present testimony of the deceased's prior shooting of two people four months prior to his death where (1) the evidence established the deceased's character through a specific instance, which was an essential element of Appellant's claim of self-defense as it went directly to Appellant's reasonable fear of the deceased, and (2) the significant probative value of the evidence was not substantially outweighed by the danger of confusing the issues?

III. Did the trial judge err in failing to instruct the jury on the doctrine of imperfect defense of others to allow the jury to consider voluntary manslaughter if it were to determine that Appellant's belief that his brother was in actual danger of losing of his life or sustaining serious bodily was unreasonable as the vicious attack by the deceased on Appellant's brother would have provided the necessary heat of passion based upon sufficient legal provocation?

IV. Did the trial judge err in failing to grant Appellant's motion for a mistrial where the jurors engaged in premature deliberations and the judge's admonishment was a casual reminder for the jurors not to deliberate until all evidence was presented, closing arguments made, and jury instructions given?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 3, 2014, a Lexington County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder (2014-GS-32-3244) and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2014-GS-32-3245). R. 756 – R. 757; R. 758 – R. 759. The state, represented by David Shawn Graham and Alton H. Eargle, Jr., called the case to trial before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., and a jury on December 12-15, 2016. R. 1. H. Wayne Floyd represented Appellant. R. 1.

The jury began deliberating at 3:50 p.m. R. 687, ll. 5-8. The court returned to the record at 4 p.m. R. 687, l. 9. Although two questions from the jury were marked as court's exhibits, there was no indication in the transcript that the jurors received responses to their inquiries. R. 687, ll. 10-11; R. 754; R. 754. The questions included a request for the jury instructions in written form and a request for a laptop in order to listen to recordings. R. 754; R. 754. The jury then returned to the courtroom at 4:14 p.m., twenty-four minutes after it began deliberating. R. 687, ll. 16-17. The jury found Appellant guilty of murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 688, ll. 2-8. Judge Griffith sentenced Appellant to fifty years imprisonment for murder and five years imprisonment for the weapon. R. 695, ll. 12-16; R. 760; R. 761.

On December 22, 2016, Appellant filed a motion for new trial and reconsideration of sentence. R. 725. On July 11, 2018, Judge Griffith heard the motions. R. 697. During the hearing, defense counsel noted that at the time of the incident, Appellant “was only 17 years of age.” R. 717, ll. 6-8. Citing Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460 (2016), defense counsel explained that a court is “not supposed to give a life sentence to someone under 18.” R. 717, ll. 9-11. Although defense counsel did not request an individualized sentencing hearing as required pursuant to Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), counsel argued Appellant's sentence of fifty years was the equivalent to a life sentence. R. 717, l. 19 – R. 718, l. 11. Specifically, defense counsel

asked the judge to “reconsider the length of his sentence and shorten it to 30 years.” R. 718, ll. 9-11.

At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Griffith took the matters under advisement. R. 720, ll. 8-14. On March 4, 2019, Judge Griffith issued a written order denying the motion for new trial and granting the motion for reconsideration. R. 728. Judge Griffith reduced Appellant’s sentence for murder to forty years imprisonment. R. 728; R. 762.

On March 5, 2019, Appellant served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

## ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge erred in denying Appellant immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act where the undisputed evidence showed Appellant satisfied the common law elements of defense of others and the elements of the Act.

### **Standard of review**

“A claim of immunity under the Act requires a pretrial determination using a preponderance of the evidence standard, which [the appellate court] reviews under an abuse of discretion standard of review.” State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013).

“An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” State v. Jones, 416 S.C. 283, 289, 786 S.E.2d 132, 136 (2016).

### **Relevant facts**

Prior to trial, Appellant moved for immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act. R. 722. In May 2014, Appellant was seventeen years old, weighed approximately 115 pounds, and stood almost five feet and four inches tall. R. 107, ll. 5-11. On May 11, 2014, Jamie Galloway, who was much bigger than Appellant, punched Appellant and beat him up. R. 108, ll. 3-5 (describing the deceased as close to 200 pounds); R. 111, ll. 13-15; R. 115, ll. 13-16; R. 115, ll. 17-18; R. 123, ll. 6-11. When Appellant went to the ground, Galloway started kicking him. R. 123, ll. 14-15. As a result, Appellant was terrified of Galloway. R. 111, ll. 10-15; R. 115, ll. 9-16. Additionally, Appellant was aware that Galloway was on bond for “a few attempted murders” because he had shot two people, about which he had bragged to Appellant. R. 111, ll. 16-21; R. 115, ll. 19-25; R. 116, ll. 19-21; R. 119, ll. 2-6; R. 120, ll. 1-5.

Appellant's brother, Adam, was dating Kayla Bass. R. 109, l. 14. Bass wanted to visit Kaysha Fontenot; therefore Appellant, Adam, and Bass went to Fontenot's house during the middle of May 2014. R. 109, ll. 11-24. Haley Stone was visiting Fontenot as well. R. 110, ll. 14-16. Appellant was drinking alcohol – about five shots and a few drinks. R. 118, ll. 16-19. He also consumed one and a half bars of Xanax. R. 118, ll. 20-21.

Approximately an hour after Appellant arrived at Fontenot's house, Galloway arrived. R. 110, ll. 21-23. Initially, Bass, Fontenot, and Katie, who had driven Galloway to Fontenot's house, fought. R. 112, ll. 4-5; R. 112, ll. 13-18; R. 130, ll. 14-19. Appellant grabbed one of the women and told them to stop fighting. R. 112, ll. 5-6; R. 130, ll. 23-25. Galloway also pulled one of the women away. R. 130, ll. 20-21. Fortunately, the fighting among the women stopped. R. 112, ll. 5-6.

However, Galloway took off his shirt, showing his desire to fight, and punched Adam. R. 112, ll. 11-12; R. 112, ll. 24-25; R. 131, ll. 8-15; R. 131, l. 22 – R. 132, l. 1. Galloway continued swinging at Adam. R. 112, l. 25 – R. 113, l. 2; R. 133, ll. 1-21. Eventually, Adam, who was backing up, fell to the ground. R. 113, l. 2; R. 134, ll. 1-25. Adam tried to get away from Galloway, but he managed to get trapped in the corner of the porch. R. 113, ll. 3-8; R. 134, l. 1 – R. 136, l. 23. Adam fell to the floor of the porch, and Galloway continued his relentless assault. R. 113, ll. 5-8; R. 113, ll. 10-13; R. 137, 15-18. Fearing for his brother's life, Appellant stabbed Galloway once in the shoulder blade with his pocketknife. R. 113, ll. 8-9; R. 113, ll. 14-16; R. 116, ll. 4-6; R. 116, ll. 10-14; R. 138, ll. 12-15. Appellant explained that he was defending his brother, Adam. R. 114, ll. 2-9; R. 114, ll. 17-19. “[B]lood [was] leaking from [Adam's] face.” R. 114, ll. 3-4. Adam was “trapped on the porch” while Galloway beat him down. R. 114, ll. 8-9.

Galloway collapsed to the side, which allowed Adam to stand up at that point. R. 113, ll. 17-19; R. 144, ll. 3-5. Adam and Appellant then began striking Galloway. R. 113, ll. 20-22; R. 144, ll. 13-17. Appellant was unable to remember what happened after the two began hitting Galloway. R. 113, ll. 17-24.

After hearing Appellant's testimony, the judge ruled on the request for immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act. Judge Griffith had "a problem with the immunity question" because Appellant's "testimony was consistent up until he took the one blow against [Galloway] and then it's very vague and his memory is very, very, very vague from that point forward." R. 158, ll. 8-12. Thus, the judge surmised that Appellant's "proof doesn't get clear by a preponderance of the evidence that he needed to continue to defend his brother." R. 158, ll. 12-14. The judge thought "he failed to meet his burden of proof of proving he would be entitled to immunity because he only has recollection of one blow that he took to assist his brother if that's the case." R. 158, ll. 18-22. Based upon Appellant's inability to recall what happened after he stabbed Galloway, the judge determined it was "a factual question." R. 159, l. 2.

Defense counsel argued that Appellant's inability to remember what happened after the initial blow was inconsequential to the question of immunity. R. 159, ll. 5-11. Thereafter, defense counsel went through the elements of self-defense, and argued how Appellant satisfied each of them. R. 159, l. 12 – R. 160, l. 5.

[T]he question is whether he was without fault in bringing on the difficulty. ... [T]hat's been covered. Whether he believed he was in imminent danger or his brother was, and ... he covered that. Whether a reasonably prudent man would entertain the same belief, and ... that's clear from the difference in sizes, the fact that he knew about Mr. Galloway's violent nature, that he would - - that one man would strike a fatal blow to save himself or someone else, and ... that's what he did. Now whether or not he continued to strike him or whether someone else struck

him, the question is whether they had the right to, and ... that's covered - - all those points are covered.

R. 159, l. 15 – R. 160, l. 5.

The judge disagreed with trial counsel, opining that the statute required one “to prove more past the initial blow.” R. 160, ll. 6-12. Later, the judge revealed even more about his decision to deny immunity. He explained that the evidence went “both ways.” R. 512, ll. 23-24. Thus, he determined it was “a factual question.” R. 512, ll. 24-25.

### **Discussion**

In 2006, the South Carolina General Assembly adopted the Protection of Persons and Property Act. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-410, et seq. The General Assembly explained its intent was to “codify the common law Castle Doctrine which recognizes that a person’s home is his castle and to extend the doctrine to include an occupied vehicle and the person’s place of business.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(A). “The General Assembly [found] that it is proper for law-abiding citizens to protect themselves, their families, and others from intruders and attackers without fear of prosecution or civil action for acting in defense of themselves and others.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(B). The General Assembly recognized “that persons residing in or visiting this State have a right to expect to remain unmolested and safe within their homes, businesses, and vehicles.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(D). Finally, the General Assembly explained “that no person or victim of crime should be required to surrender his personal safety to a criminal, nor should a person or victim be required to needlessly retreat in the face of intrusion or attack.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(E).

To effectuate its intent, the General Assembly created a statute providing for immunity from prosecution to “[a] person who uses deadly force as permitted by the provisions of this article or another applicable provision of law.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450(A).

A person who is not engaged in an unlawful activity and who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be, including, but not limited to, his place of business, has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person or to prevent the commission of a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C). “A claim of immunity under the Act requires a pretrial determination using a preponderance of the evidence standard.” State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013). The judge must “sit as fact-finder at this hearing, weigh the evidence presented, and reach a conclusion under the Act.” State v. Cervantes-Pavon, 426 S.C. 442, 451, 827 S.E.2d 564, 569 (2019).

Recently, the Supreme Court explained that it had interpreted “another applicable provision of law” found within section 16-11-450(A) to include the common law of self-defense. State v. Glenn, 429 S.C. 108, 117, 838 S.E.2d 491, 496 (2019) (citing State v. Scott, 424 S.C. 463, 473, 819 S.E.2d 116, 120 (2018)). “This means a defendant may seek immunity from prosecution under the Act by ‘demonstrating the elements of self-defense to the satisfaction of the trial court by a preponderance of the evidence.’” Id. at 118, 838 S.E.2d at 496 (quoting Curry, 406 S.C. at 372, 752 S.E.2d at 267). During the pretrial hearing, a defendant must set out “a valid case of self-defense,” excluding the duty to retreat prong, “and the trial court must necessarily consider the elements of self-defense in determining a defendant’s entitlement to the Act’s immunity.” State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 371, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013).

The Court explained that “a trial court should first consider whether the defendant has proved the elements of self-defense by a preponderance of the evidence.” Glenn, 429 S.C. at 118, 838 S.E.2d at 496. “If the defendant has failed to meet the elements of reasonable fear or the duty to retreat, the court should then determine whether section 16-11-440(A) or (C) is applicable.” Id. Where section 16-11-440(C) is applicable, “it replaces the duty to retreat element required to

establish self-defense.” Id. “In determining whether a defendant satisfies section 16-11-440(C), the circuit court must analyze whether, at the time of the incident, he was engaged in an unlawful activity and was attacked in another place where he had a right to be.” Id.

Furthermore, when considering whether the defendant was in a place where he had a right to be as required by the Act, the trial court must consider proximate cause or a causal connection to the incident. Id. “[T]o bar a victim of crime from claiming immunity based on a hyper-technical reading of the statute would lead to absurd results when his presence in the place he was attacked had no relation to the incident itself.” Id. Additionally, “a proximate cause analysis must also be applied to the unlawful activity element of subsection (C).” Id.

Appellant was entitled to immunity under the Act because he satisfied the elements of defense of others and section 16-11-440(C). The trial judge erred in finding otherwise. As an initial matter, the judge erred in denying immunity because the evidence “went both ways” and “was a factual matter.” As the Court made clear, the judge must “sit as fact-finder at this hearing, weigh the evidence presented, and reach a conclusion under the Act.” State v. Cervantes-Pavon, 426 S.C. 442, 451, 827 S.E.2d 564, 569 (2019). Judge Griffith refused to sit as fact-finder in the case denied immunity because he determined the facts presented were susceptible to going “both ways.”

### ***Self-defense & defense of others***

To establish self-defense, four elements must be present: (1) the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty; (2) the defendant must have been in actual imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury; (3) if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief, or if the defendant was actually in imminent danger, the

circumstances were such as would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or losing his own life; and (4) the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in the particular instance. State v. Hendrix, 270 S.C. 653, 657-658, 244 S.E.2d 503, 505-506 (1978); see also State v. Davis, 282 SC. 45, 46, 317 S.E.2d 452, 453 (1984).

Additionally, not only does the Act contemplate immunity when a person acts in defense of another, but the defense of others is a common law doctrine that falls within the ambit of “another applicable provision of law” found within section 16-11-450(A). “Under the theory of defense of others, one is not guilty of taking the life of an assailant who assaults a friend, relative, or bystander if that friend, relative, or bystander would likewise have the right to take the life of the assailant in self-defense.” State v. Long, 325 S.C. 59, 64, 480 S.E.2d 62, 64 (1997); see also Douglas v. State, 332 S.C. 67, 73, 504 S.E.2d 307, 310 (1998). When a person acts in defense of another, the person “is in the same situation and upon the same plane as those who act in defense of themselves.” State v. Hewitt, 205 S.C. 207, 207, 31 S.E.2d 257, 258 (1944). Only those facts “which excuse the killing in defense of self likewise excuse a killing in defense of [another].” Id.; see also, State v. Harvey, 110 S.C. 274, 96 S.E. 399, 400 (1918) (noting that “[w]hile a man may take life in defense of himself or another, yet the slayer, or the person in whose behalf the slayer strikes, must not only be without fault in provoking the difficulty, but there must be a necessity to kill”); State v. Norris, 253 S.C. 31, 38, 168 S.E.2d 564, 567 (1969) (holding “[t]he right of the father to defend his daughter is coextensive with the right of the daughter to defend herself”).

The right of one to justify a slaying on the ground that it was necessary in defense of another person stands upon the same plane or footing as, and is coextensive with, the right of the person to whose aid he or she goes, under the existing circumstances of the particular occasion; or as is sometimes stated, the right to justify killing in

defense of another depends upon the same conditions as would be necessary to excuse such other person under the plea of self-defense.

40 Am.Jr.2d Homicide § 168 (2014). In other words, “[t]he right is commensurate with self-defense, and every fact requisite to excuse a killing in the defense of self must be present in order to excuse a killing in defense of another.” Id.

The defense of others imposes the “alter ego” rule, meaning “an intervenor who used deadly force to defend a person not entitled to use deadly force himself would be held criminally liable.” Marco F. Bendinelli, James T. Edsall, Defense of Others: Origins, Requirements, Limitations and Ramifications, 5 Regent U. L. Rev. 153, 153 (Spring 1995).<sup>1</sup> “[A] person is justified or excused in killing in defense of another person when, *and only when*, the circumstances are such that the latter would be justified or excused if *he* had committed the homicide in his own defense.” Id. at 158 (quoting Lovejoy v. State, 15 So.2d 300, 301 (Ala. Ct. App. 1943)) (emphasis in the original). When a person interferes in a difficulty on behalf of another, “he may lawfully do in another’s defense what such other might lawfully do in his own defense *but no more*; he ... is subject to the same conditions, limitations, and responsibilities as the person defended.” Id. (quoting Lovejoy, 15 So.2d at 301) (emphasis in the original). South Carolina adopted the alter ego rule in 1906. State v. Cook, 78 S.C. 253, 59 S.E. 862 (1906).

In State v. Sales, 285 S.C. 113, 328 S.E.2d 619 (1985), the South Carolina Supreme Court examined the defense of others instruction as it applied to the defendant in a criminal case. Sales’ sister and her boyfriend were fighting in their shared home over the boyfriend’s use of grocery money to buy liquor. The boyfriend hit the sister in the face with an iron poker. Sales’ nieces ran

---

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