RECEIVED

Oct 14 2020

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from Lexington County
The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

NICHOLAS BENJAMIN CHHITH-BERRY,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2019-000352

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

J. ANTHONY MABRY
Senior Assistant Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

SAMUEL RICK HUBBARD
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit
205 East Main Street
Lexington, South Carolina 29072

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

attempted murder, was out on bond for 2 counts of attempted murder, and was wearing an ankle monitor because of the prior incident. The failure to admit the bartender's testimony, was harmless. This appellate issue has no merit and must be denied.

Appellant's Issue III.

Did the trial judge err in failing to instruct the jury on the doctrine of imperfect defense of others to allow the jury to consider voluntary manslaughter if it were to determine that Appellant's belief that his brother was in actual danger of losing of his life or sustaining serious bodily was unreasonable as the vicious attack by the deceased on Appellant's brother would have provided the necessary heat of passion based upon sufficient legal provocation?

What Occurred Below

After the presentation of evidence by both sides, the judge held a charge conference. Appellant had provided written requests to charge. (R. 620-21). While reviewing the submissions, the judge considered Number 4. (R. 624). The requested instruction provided:

If you find that the Defendant believes he or another person was in danger of serious injury or death and believes that deadly force was necessary to avoid this danger but that you also find that either of these beliefs was not reasonable then you should consider whether the threat constituted adequate legal provocation as that term is used in defining the crime of Voluntary Manslaughter.

R. *(Def.'s Req. Charge #4). After considering it, Judge Griffith declined to give the instruction. After the jury was instructed on the law, Appellant renewed his request. (R. 685). He explained that the judge did not cover the concept of mistaken belief in the need for deadly force. (R. 685). Judge Griffith indicated that he "thought [he] did." (R. 685, ll. 9-10). He included it "in the second element" of self-defense. (R. 685, ll. 12-14). He instructed the jurors regarding the reasonable belief of the person who defended another. (R. 685, ll. 14-22). Appellant clarified that the purpose of the instruction was to inform the jury that if the defendant believed a person was in danger of serious harm and was mistaken as to that belief, then the jury could consider the

conduct to be evidence of legal provocation for analyzing voluntary manslaughter. (R. 685-86). Judge Griffith refused to provide this instruction to the jury as it was not a correct statement of the law. (R. 686, 11. 4-6).

During the motion for new trial, defense counsel reiterated his request for an instruction regarding how to analyze "a failed self-defense claim." (R. 703, ll. 3-9; see also R. *(MNT)). Defense counsel argued the jury charge would have assisted the jurors in understanding the interplay among murder, voluntary manslaughter, and self-defense. According to defense counsel, the proposed jury charge provided instruction "on if [the jurors] don't feel it was self-defense, they could still use the possibility of an imperfect self-defense on the question of whether or not it was murder or voluntary manslaughter." (R. 703 - 704). He elaborated: "And we specifically requested the charge just in case the jury did not believe that self-defense charge was perfected." (R. 704). The prosecutor thought the court "made the right ruling at the time," "...the charge [was not] appropriate under the law and the facts of the case." (R. 704, ll. 13-16). Judge Griffith acknowledged controlling case law required him to tailor the self-defense charge to the facts presented, which he did. (R. 704). He stood by his decision not to provide the requested instruction because it was not a correct statement of the law. (R. 704-705).

ARGUMENT III.

Judge Griffith could not have erred in failing to instruct the jury on the doctrine of imperfect self-defense reducing murder to manslaughter, because South Carolina does not recognize the doctrine of imperfect self-defense and a trial judge must charge the current and correct statement of the law.

Standard of Review

"In criminal cases an appellate court sits to review errors of law only." State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). "An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion." Clark v.

Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support." Id.

Law / Analysis

"[T]he trial judge is required only to charge the current and correct law of South Carolina." State v. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 231, 589 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2003)(citing Cohens v. Atkins, 333 S.C. 345, 509 S.E.2d 286 (Ct. App. 1998)). Appellant alleges Judge Griffith erred [abused his discretion] in failing to charge the jury on imperfect self-defense. Appellant is wrong.

South Carolina has not adopted imperfect self-defense. State v. Sams, 410 S.C. 303, 315, 764 S.E.2d 511, 517 (2014). Imperfect self-defense is not the law in South Carolina. State v. Finley, 277 S.C. 548, 551, 290 S.E.2d 808, 809 (1982)("the theory of 'imperfect self-defense,' which reduces murder to manslaughter 'is not the law of South Carolina.'")(cited in Sams, 410 S.C. at 315; 764 S.E.2d at 517). Therefore, Judge Griffith could not have erred [abused his discretion] in declining to instruct the jury on imperfect self-defense [Defendant's requested instruction #4] because it was not a current and correct statement of the law of South Carolina. Taylor, 356 S.C. at 231, 589 S.E.2d at 3(the trial judge is only required to charge the current and correct law of South Carolina); Finley, 277 S.C. at 551, 290 S.E.2d at 809(the trial judge did not err in refusing to charge the jury on the "theory of imperfect self-defense" as that is not the law of South Carolina); Sams, 410 S.C. at 315, 764 S.E.2d at 517, (South Carolina has not adopted the "theory of imperfect self-defense" reducing murder to manslaughter); State v. Scott, 414 S.C. 482, 488, 779 S.E.2d 529, 532 (2015)(recognizing the holding in Sams that South Carolina has not adopted imperfect self-defense); Ivey v. Catoe, 36 Fed. Appx. 718, n. 8 (4th Cir. 2002)(*Unpublished*)(South Carolina does not recognize the doctrine of imperfect self-

defense)(citing Finley, 277 S.C. at 551, 290 S.E.2d at 809); *see also* State v. Wiggins, 330 S.C. 538, n. 18, 500 S.E.2d 489, n. 18 (1998)(explaining the holding in Finley); Taylor v. Warden at Allendale, 2014 W.L. 4716443 (D.S.C. 2014)(*Unpublished*)(counsel was not ineffective in failing to request imperfect self-defense jury instruction as that is not the law of South Carolina)(quoting Finley, 277 S.C. at 551, 290 S.E.2d at 809). As a result, this appellate ground has no merit and must be denied.

Further, as the Court recognized in Sams, *supra* and Scott, *supra*, even if South Carolina were to at some future day adopt imperfect self-defense as the law, which it has not done, it is of no moment to Appellant's case as it "...would, at most, entitle him to an instruction on voluntary manslaughter, which he already received." Scott, 414 S.C. at 488, 779 S.E.2d at 532 (quoting Sams, 410 S.C. at 316, 764 S.E.2d at 517, (citations omitted)). Judge Griffith fully charged the jury on the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter. (R. 670-72). As a result, there is no merit to this appellate ground and it must be denied. Scott, *supra*; Sams, *supra*.

Appellant's Issue IV.

Did the trial judge err in failing to grant Appellant's motion for a mistrial where the jurors engaged in premature deliberations and the judge's admonishment was a casual reminder for the jurors not to deliberate until all evidence was presented, closing arguments made, and jury instructions given?

What Occurred Below

After the jury was selected, Judge Griffith gave the jury preliminary instructions what their role and duties would be in the case. He also instructed the jury they were not to discuss or deliberate about the case until the end of the trial after all of the witnesses and evidence had been admitted. (R. 12-15). He also instructed the jury again before opening statements not to discuss the case during the trial when the jury was on recess or during a break. (R. 166-67). And, Judge

Griffith instructed the jury when they went on a lunch break that they could not discuss the case. (R. 236). Judge Griffith instructed the jury again when they went on a break that they could not discuss the case. (R. 301-02). And, Judge Griffith instructed the jury when they went home at night that they could not discuss the case. (R. 338).

During the state's case-in-chief, Judge Griffith appointed a foreperson of the jury. (R. 428, ll. 12-21). While sending the jurors to lunch, Judge Griffith instructed the jurors as follows:

We're still taking testimony, we're still hearing evidence. You-all are not allowed to discuss the case in any fashion among one another even on breaks. I kind of caught wind of that. I don't know what was being discussed, but you can't do it because there's more witnesses coming, we don't have all the parts it takes to decide on whether it's the case or not, there's more to it. But it's important, it's part of your oath. You need to follow the instructions of the Court and my instructions are to not discuss the case until you get all of the testimony, all the evidence in the record and my instructions on the law because I haven't told you what the law is; that the law says this, this and this. I haven't given it to you yet, and that's important.

So don't discuss the case. You can talk about the weather, you can talk about Mr. Mills, you can talk about him, whatever you like, but not about the case.

(R. 429, ll. 2-18). There was no objection by Appellant. (R. 429-696). Appellant did not move for a mistrial on this basis. (R. 429-696). Appellant did not ask for an *in camera* hearing to examine each juror. (R. 429-696). No additional information exists in the trial record as to what Judge Griffith was told by the bailiff. (R. 429-696). The trial continued with the next witness called. No motion for a mistrial was ever made regarding this issue either before or after the jury returned their verdict and Appellant was sentenced. (R. 429-696).

What Occurred After the Trial

In his written post-trial motion for a new trial, Appellant argued for the first time that the trial judge should have granted his [alleged] motion for a mistrial when the alleged premature deliberations took place. (Post-Tr. Motion). However, as shown above, a motion for mistrial was

never made regarding this issue. (R. 429-696). In fact, no objection was raised by Appellant either. (R. 429-696). At the oral argument on the post-trial motion for a new trial, Appellant alleged Judge Griffith erred in denying the [alleged] motion for mistrial he claimed he made during the trial. However, again, the record shows no mistrial motion was made during the trial based on premature jury deliberations. No objection was raised either. (R. 429-696). Judge Griffith denied the motion for a new trial. (R. 697-720; Order Denying Motion for New Trial).

Appellant fails to mention anywhere in his brief, that he did not make a motion for a mistrial at any time during the trial on the basis of premature jury deliberations. (IBOA). Appellant also fails to mention anywhere in his brief that he did not object when the issue was mentioned by Judge Griffith; he did not request the trial court to *voir dire* the jurors; or, that he did not object to the curative instruction given by Judge Griffith. (IBOA).

ARGUMENT IV.

Judge Griffith did not err in failing to grant Appellant's motion for a mistrial because Appellant did not make a motion for a mistrial or even object to alleged premature deliberations; the issue is not preserved for appellate review; and, the issue cannot now be raised by bootstrapping the issue in a post-trial motion; regardless, Appellant has failed to demonstrate prejudice.

Appellant argues on appeal that Judge Griffith erred in not granting his motion for a mistrial due to premature jury deliberations. Judge Griffith could not have erred in failing to grant a motion for mistrial because there was no motion for mistrial made or even an objection. Nor did Appellant request Judge Griffith *voir dire* the individual jurors or object to the curative instruction. (R. 429-696). As a result, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. State v. Aldret, 333 S.C. 307, 312, 509 S.E.2d 811, 813 (1999); State v. Vang, 353 S.C. 78, 85, 577 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2003).

The South Carolina Supreme Court recognized in State v. Aldret, 333 S.C. 307, 312, 509 S.E.2d 811, 813 (1999), a timely objection must be made for purposes of preserving an issue for appeal, and in the case of premature deliberations, an attorney must make an on the record objection at the attorney's first opportunity to do so. Aldret, 333 S.C. at 312, 509 S.E.2d at 813 (citing State v. Sullivan, 310 S.C. 311, 426 S.E.2d 766 (1993)(We have routinely held that a party must object at the first opportunity to preserve an issue for review), State v. Williams, 303 S.C. 410, 401 S.E.2d 168 (1991)(same) and Taylor v. Medinica, 324 S.C. 200, 479 S.E.2d 35 (1996)(A contemporaneous objection is required to preserve an issue for appellate review.)). In Aldret, the appellant became aware of the premature deliberations before the verdict but failed to make a motion for a mistrial, an objection, or request the court *voir dire* the jury panel at the earliest available opportunity, waiting until after the verdict to raise the issue in a motion for a new trial. As a result, the Supreme Court held the issue was not preserved for appellate review. Id. at 312, 509 S.E.2d at 813 (citing as *c.f.* United States v. Nance, 502 F.2d 615 (6th Cir. 1974)(where counsel discovered during jury's deliberations that it had prematurely deliberated, but where counsel waited until after verdict to raise issue of premature deliberations, court held he was barred from raising issue on motion for a new trial).¹⁷

Likewise, this Court followed suit in State v. Vang, 353 S.C. 78, 85, 577 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2003) finding the issue was not preserved for appellate review when an objection was not raised at the first opportunity the attorney knew of alleged premature deliberations. Vang, 353 S.C. at 85, 577 S.E.2d at 228 (citing Aldret, 333 S.C. at 312; 509 S.E.2d at 813). This Court stated as follows:

¹⁷ See also State v. Taylor, 399 S.C. 51, 731 S.E.2d 596 (Ct. App. 2012)(issue may not be raised for the first time in a post-trial motion; it is not preserved for appellate review)(citing Dixon v. Dixon, 362 S.C. 388, 608 S.E.2d 849 (2005).

Vang, who is Asian, contends that the questioning between the judge and the foreperson revealed a potential jury bias against Asians and the judge should have individually questioned the jurors to determine if any bias existed. Vang also contends the judge should have questioned each juror individually to determine if the jury was participating in premature jury deliberations. Vang argues that the judge's failure to question the jurors after the note is error and entitles him to a new trial. We disagree.

This issue is not preserved. When the trial judge re-entered the courtroom he stated, "I have shared with the attorneys the impressions I have of the *in camera* matter. I have stated that I would permit them to have the transcription read back. Both have indicated to me that they are satisfied with what I have communicated to them and they do not desire any further inquiry related to [the *in camera* matter]. Vang's counsel failed to object to this ruling and counsel did not request individual questioning of the jurors at this time. Thus the issue is not preserved for our review. See State v. Aldret, 333 S.C. 307, 312, 509 S.E.2d 811, 813 (1999)(to preserve an issue of juror misconduct for appellate review a party must object at the first opportunity at trial).

Vang, 353 S.C. at 85, 577 S.E.2d at 228. See also State v. Smith, 338 S.C. 66, 525 S.E.2d 263 (Ct. App. 1999)(finding where appellant did not request of trial court *voir dire* of juror on the issue of juror misconduct, the issue was waived on appeal)(citing Aldret).

Here, Appellant was aware of the alleged premature deliberations when Judge Griffith spoke to the jury on pages 470-471 of the Trial Transcript. He raised no objection. He did not move for a mistrial. He did not ask for the trial court to *voir dire* the members of the jury panel. He did not object to the trial court's curative instruction. (R. 429-696). He did not raise this issue until his post-trial motion for a new trial. Therefore, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. Aldret, 333 S.C. at 312; 509 S.E.2d at 813; Vang, 353 S.C. at 85, 577 S.E.2d at 228.

Lack of Prejudice

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